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FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION action, the staff has made both September, 1987.2 NADA commented

: substantive and editorial revisions. during that proceeding that sales by any
16 CFR Part 455 dealer, not just a lessor, at auctions,

Trade Regulation Rule; Sale of Uged
Motor Vehicles

*~rnCY: Federal Trade Commission.

ACTION: Analysis of public comments on

staff compliance guidelines.

SUMMARY: The staff of the Federal Trade
Commission publishes its analysis of the
public comments received in response to
its request for comment on the staff
compliance guidelines for the Used Car
Rule. This notice summarizes and
analyzes the issues raised by the
commenters and notes those parts of the
guidelines that have been modified in
response to the comments. The revised
compliance guidelines are published in a
separate notice in the Federal Register.
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:
Joyce E. Plyler (202-326-3021) or
Matthew D. Gold (202-326-3019),
Attorneys, Division of Enforcement,
Bureau of Consumer Protection, Federal
Trade Commission, Washington, DC
20580.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The
Division of Enforcement staff published
compliance guidelines for the Used Car
Rule in the Federal Register on May 18,
1987. The guidelines are meant to

EY

T

’ ‘)provide guidance concerning how the

/Rule applies in specific situations. They
are the opinion of staff only and have
not been adopted by the Commission
and are not binding on the Commission.
However, the guidelines serve as criteria
for the staff in assessing compliance
with the Used Car Rule.

Five comments were received during
the 30-day comment period after
publication of the guidelines.? Three
comments were submitted by trade
associations—the National Automobile
Dealers Association ("NADA"), the
National Independent Automobile
Dealers Association (“"NIADA"), and the
National Vehicle Leasing Association
(“NVLA"). One bank holding company,
First Virginia Banks, Inc., also
commented. The fifth comment, from a
consumer, did not make specific
substantive comments about the
guidelines and is not discussed here.
The comments raised six substantive
issues, which are discussed separately
below, in the order of their appearance
in the guidelines.

Based on its analysis of the
comments, further review of the
guidelines, and subsequent Commission

e

) ! The comments were placed on the public record

/A FTCFile 21554 and are labelled 108-1 through
~108-5.

A. Public Comments
1. Demonstrators

NADA objected to staff's
interpretation that all demonstrators,
including those still in service as
demonstrators, must have a Buyers
Guide posted on them before being
shown to a consumer. In its comment,
NADA distinguished between
demonstrators that are “offered for sale”
and those that are “available for sale.”

Although NADA agreed that
demonstrators are “used" vehicles, it
contended that demonstrators are not
“offered for sale” until they are taken
out of demonstrator service and put on
the car lot. While acknowledging that
demonstrators are always “available"
for sale, NADA argued that a
salesperson who merely responds to a
customer's questions about a
demonstrator does not offer that vehicle
for sale. NADA proposed that the
guidelines instruct dealers that they
must post Buyers Guides on
demonstrator vehicles only after the
demonstrators have been removed from
service.

Staff rejects NADA's interpretation.
We disagree that in used car sales there
is a meaningful distinction between
“offering” a vehicle for sale and making
it “available” for sale. In staffs view,
when a salesperson discusses a vehicle
that is available for sale with a
customer, and is willing to sell the
vehicle, then that vehicle is “offered” for
sale.

The guidelines have not been
substantively revised on this issue, but
the illustrations concerning
demonstrators have been clarified.
Iustration 2.8 has been modified to
apply to situations in which
demonstrators are still in service so that
dealers will be guided on that specific
issue. Hlustration 2.7 in the former
guidelines was deleted because staff
agrees with NADA's suggestion that the

illustration would not apply in the “real

world” and therefore is not helpful to
dealers. Dealers do not impose time or
mileage restrictions within which
demonstrators are not available for sale,
as suggested in the former illustration.

2. Lessor/Lessee Sales

All three trade assaciations
commented about sales of leased
vehicles. NADA resubmitted the
comments it made in the leasing
company exemption proceeding, which
was considered by the Commission in

repossession lots, through solicitation
for bids and by consignment should be
exempted from the Rule. The
Commission rejected the petitioners'
and NADA's request to exempt sales to
consumers through such methods.$
NADA'’s comment on the petitions for
exemption raises no issues that have not
been previously considered by the
Commission. Staff has revised the
guidelines to make them consistent with
the Commission's decision.

NIADA and NVLA both disagreed
with staff's advice that sales by lessors
to buyers procured by lessees would be
covered by the Rule if the lessees
advertised the vehicles for sale, but
would not be covered if the buyer
approached the lessee about purchasing
the vehicle. Staff's advice was prompted
by its interpretation that the Rule
intended to exclude only sales to buyers
procured by individual lessees for the
vehicles they had personally driven, and
not to exclude sales when numerous
buyers had been procured by lessees for
vehicles the lessees had never driven, as
in the case of leased fleets.

NIADA contended that the Rule
should apply to all non-lessee or non-
employee sales, regardless of how the
buyers were procured. NVLA argued
that the Rule should not apply to any
sales by lessors to buyers procured by
lessees because the Rule makes no
distinction based on how purchasers are
acquired by lessees.

Upon reconsideration of the-Rule,
staff agrees with NVLA. Section
455.1(d)(3) of the Rule excludes from its
definition of dealer “a lessor selling a
leased vehicle by or to that vehicle's
lessee or to an employee of the lessee.”
(emphasis added). The Statement of
Basis and Purpose (SBP) for the Used
Car Rule, states:

The definition of dealer specifically
excludes * * * & lessor selling leased
vehicles to the vehicle's lessee, to a buyer
procured by the vehicle's leseee, or to the
lessee's emplayee.*

Neither the Rule nor the SBP
distinguishes between the methods &
lessee uses to procure a buyer. Thus,
staff deleted its advice that lessors
would have to comply with the Rule for
sales to buyers procured by lessees
through advertising,

¥ Seo 52 FR 3476 (1887) (Commission denial of

patitions for exemption).

'ld

* Statement of Basis and Purpose for the Used
Car Rule (“SBP"), 48 FR 45892, 45708 (Nov. 18, 1884).
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However, the Rule excludes only
certain sales by lessors. It does not
exclude Jessees if the lessee offers for
sale more than five vehicles within
twelve months and therefore is &
“dealer” as defined by the Rule. Thus,
lessees offering for sale six or more
vehicles wihin a year are responsible for
complying with the Rule.

Staff has modified the guidelines to
state that lessors are not required to
comply with the Rule for sales to buyers
procured by lessees, regardless of how
the buyer is procured. Staff also has
added a guideline stating that lessees
will be required to comply with the Rule
if they offer for sale, to persons other
than their employees or dealers, gix or
more used vehicles within a year.

3. Disclosure of Mandatory Warranties

NIADA took exception to staff's
advice that the Rule requires dealers to
disclose on the Buyers Guide any
warranty that they must provide as
mandated by state or local law. NIADA
analogized mandatory warranties to
unexpired manufacturers' warranties
because neither is a type of warranty
provided voluntarily by the dealer and
subject to negotiation. NIADA argued
that because the disclosure of unexpired
manufacturers' warranties is optional
under the Rule, then the Rule must have
meant to make disclosure of mandatory
warranties optional as well.

Staff rejects NIADA's analysis
because it draws an inapt parallel
between dealer warranties mandated by
law and unexpired manufacturers’
warranties. The distinction between the
two types of warranties is that the
former must be honored by the dealer
while the latter is the responsibility of
the manufacturer. Section 455.2(b)(2) of
the Rule states: “If you [the dealer] offer
the vehicle with a warranty, briefly
describe the warranty terms in the space
provided.” Although a dealer may be
required by law to provide a warranty,
such a mandatory warranty is
nevertheless a dealer-offered warranty
that must be disclosed.® Disclosure of
warranties that a dealer must provide,
as required by the Rule, is important to
ensure that consumers are aware of
their potential rights to have repairs
made by the dealer. Therefore, staff has
not changed its guidance that warranties
mandated by law must be disclosed on
the Buyers Guide.

4. Service Contracts

NADA requested that one minor word
change be made in staff's explanation
regarding the disclaimer of implied
warranties when service contracts are

8 See id. at 45710.

sold. NADA suggested that staff
substitute the words “enter into" for the
word “sell” to make clear that implied
warranty obligations attach only when a
dealer enters into a service contract, /..,
when the contract obligates the dealer,
rather than a third party, to perform
services under the contract. If the dealer
sells a third party service contract, the
dealer may disclaim implied warranties
in states allowing such disclaimers.

Although staff did not intend the word
“sell” to include the sale of a third party
contract, staff has substituted “enter
into™ for “sell” in order to make
absolutely clear that only when a dealer
“enters into” a service contract for any
period of time within 80 days of sale
may the dealer not disclaim implied
warranties. The only sentence affected
by this change now reads, “if you also
enter into a service contract covering
the engine for six months, you
automatically provide an implied
warranty on the engine.”

5. Sales Contract Disclosures

NADA questioned staff's guidance
that final warranty terms must be
identified in the cantract of sale, arguing
that it is unnecessary to include such
terms in the sales contract since they
must appear in a warranty document.
The original guidelines stated: *You
must include warranty information in
the sales contract. (The warranty
information may be printed in your sales
contract, or it may be on a separate
warranty page that is referred to and
made part of your sales contract)”
{emphasis in original). |

Staff revised the guidelines to clarify
that although final warranty terms must
appear in one single document that is
part of the contract with the consumer,
they are not required to be placed in a
document titled, “sales contract,” or
incorporated by reference into it. The
contract with the consumer may include
several documents, only one of which
must include all of the warranty
disclosures required by the Warranty
Disclosure Rule.® However, neither the
Used Car Rule nor the Warranty
Disclosure Rule requires that warranty
terms be referenced to or repeated in the
“sales contract.” In addition to revising .
the main text, staff deleted Illustration
4.2 to eliminate confusion on this issue.

These revisions merely clarify that
warranty terms need not be placed in
the sales contract as long as they appear
in a separate document. Of course, the
disclosure-regarding incorporation of the
Buyers Guide into the contract must be
placed conspicuously in the sales

¢ 18 CFR Part 701 (1975).

contract as required by § 455.3(b) of the
Rule.

6. Financing Agmementé

First Virginia Banks, Inc., NADA, and
NIADA each commented that a
“financing agreement” should not be
required to include the foreclosure
concerning incorporation of the Buyers
Guide into the sales contract, contained
in § 455.3(b) of the Rule.” The original
guidelines had advised dealers that the
financing agreement might have to
include the incorporation disclosure if
the financing agreement contained terms
apart from those governing the financing
of the transaction.

Staff agrees with the commenters that
this guideline-should be revised to state
that a financing document must contain
the § 455.3(b) disclosure only if the
financing document is the only
dogcument used to record the transaction
or if the document contains a clause
stating that it is the complete and total
agreement between the dealer and the
consumer. Hlustration 4.1 was revised to
make this point.

B. Other Revisions

Staff made two substantive changes
that were unrelated to the comments.
First, staff modified slightly its
explanation of the Rule's exclusion of
banks and financial institutions. Section
455.1(d}(3) states that the definition of
dealer "does not include a bank or
financial institution * * *.” The
guidelines explain that the “definition of
‘dealer’ specifically excludes banks and
financial institutions selling used
vehicles forfeited as collateral on
consumer loans.” Staff has revised the
guidelines to delete the phrase “forfeited
as collateral on consumer loans.”

Although the SBP specifically
identified the sale of cars forfeited as
collateral as a type of sale by banks that
would be excluded from coverage,® this
was only an illustration of one
transaction that is excluded. The Rule
itself unequivocally excludes banks and
financial institutions. Deletion of the

- phrase "forfeited as collateral on

consumer loans” will eliminate the -
incorrect implication that a bank’s sale
of used vehicles other than those
forfeited as collateral would be covered
by the Rule.

7 NADA 'was apparently under the mistaken
impression that the guidelines indicated that
warranty terms must gometimes appear in a
financing agreement. Hlustration 4.1, which is the
relevant section, applied only to the question of
whether the § 455.3(b) disclosure should appeer in
the financing agreement.

848 FR at 45708.
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Second, staff revised its guidance
concerning sales at auctions to make the
guidelines consistent with the
Commission's ruling in the proceeding
denying exemptions to a number of
automobile leasing companies.® The
guidelines previously stated that sales at

ctions are covered by the Rule if the
auctions are open to consumers and
advertised to consumers. The revised
guidelines eliminate advertising as a
condition to coverage of the Rule in
auction settings and state that sales to
consumers at any auctions that are open
to consumers are covered by the Rule.

Finally, the staff made a number of
nonsubstantive editorial changes. For
example, all of the illustrations are now
placed at the end of the text to make
them easier to find within the document.

C. Conclusion

In this notice, staff has analyzed
cumments on its initial compliance
guidelines for the Used Car Rule and has
noted a number of areas in which it
ngrees that changes in the guidelines are
warranted. Final staff compliance
guidelines for the Used Car Rule
incorporating these changes are
published in a separate notice in the
Federal Register.

~~ List of Subjects in 16 CFR Part 455

H

}

RS

Used cars, Trade practices.
By direction of the Commission.
Emily Rock,
Secreltury.
[FR Doc. 88-11012 Filed 5-16-88; 8:45 am)
BILLING CODE 8750-01-M

16 CFR Part 455

Trade Regulation Ruls; Sale of Used
Motor Vehicles

AGENCY: Federal Trade Commission.

ACTION: Final Staff compliance
guidelines.

SUMMARY: The staff of the Federal Trade
Commission publishes its staff
compliance guidelines for the Used Car
Rule to provide assistance to industry
members. The views expressed in the
guidelines are those of the staff only.
They have not been approved or
adopted by the Commission and are net
binding on the Commission. Howsver,
the guidelines will serve as enforcement
criteria for the staff in assessing

® Stafl made-public its enforcement polioy
regarding consumer sales at auctions in a staff
opinion lefter to each pf the leasing companies who
hatl petitivned for exemption from the Rule.

compliance with the trade regulation

EFFECTIVE DATE: May 17, 1888.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:
Joyce E. Plyler (202/326-3021) or
Matthew D. Gold (202/326-3018),
Attorneys, Division of Enforcement,
Bureau of Consumer Protection, Federal
Trade Commission, Washington, DC
20580.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Staff Compliance Guidelines Qutline

1. Introduction
I1. What Transactions Does the Rule Cover?
A. “Velhicle" Defined—Section 455.1(d)(1)
B. "Used Vehicle" Defined—Section
455.1(d)(2)
C. "Dealer” Defined—Section 455.1(d}(3)
D. “Consumer” Defined—Section
455.1(d}{4)
E. Consignment Sales
F. Auctions
G. Where Does the Rule Apply?
I11. The Buyers Guide
A. General Information
B. Preparing the Buyers Guide
1. Buyers Guide Fermat—Section 455.2(a)
2. Vehicle Information—Section 455.2(d)
3. Warranty Information—Section
455.2(h)
a. "As Is—No Warranty"” Version
b. "Implied Warranties Only"” Version
c. Filling in the Warranty Portion of the
Buyers Guide
d. Unexpired Manufacturer's
Warranties
e. Mandatory Warranties
4. Service Contract Availability
5. Dealer Identification and Consumer
Complaint Information
C. Spanish Language Sales—Section 455.5
D. How to Display the Buyers Guide
E. Changes in Warrenty Coverage
IV: Sales Contract and Warranty Disclosures
A. The Used Car Rule's Requirements
B. The Warranty Disclosure Rule's
Requirements
V. Contrary Statements—Section 465.4
VL State Exemption Petitions—Section 455.8.
VII. lllustrations .

I. Introduction

These staff compliance guidelines
describe certain provisions of the
Federal Trade Commissian's Trade
Regulation Rule Concerning the Sale of
Used Motor Vehicles (the “Rule” or
“Used Car Rule"), 186 CFR Part 455,
which was promulgated on Novemher
19,.1984.! The Used Car Rule became
effective on May 9, 1985.2 Violations of

! 48 FR 45602 (1884). That netice included the
Used Car Rule and the- Commission’s Statement of
Basis and Purpose concerning the Rule.

* Id. But see Section I{G). infra, concerning the
application of the Rule within the State of
Wisconsin.

the Rule can result in the imposition of
civil penalties of up to $10,000 per
violation.3 :

These final guidelimes are a
modificatien of the guidelines published
in the Federal Register on May 18, 1887.
Some of the changes were based on
several comments that were received.
An analysis of those comments is
included in a separate notice in the
Federal Register.

The guidelines neither amend nor
modify the Rule. Staff is publishing
these guidelnes to provide assistance to
indtistry members in understanding the
Rule and complying with its obligations.
In addition, staff has prepared a
brochure entitled “Facts For Business:
{A] Dealer's Guide to the FTC Used Car
Rule,” designed to assist dealers in
understanding the Rule. Staff mailed a
copy of this brochure to more than
89,000 dealers before the Rule took
effect. If you are a new dealer, did not
receive this brochure, or need another
copy, you may request a free copy by
writing to thie Publications Branch,
Federal Trade Commission,
Washington, DC 20580. You also may
request a free copy of these compliance
guidelines.

The views expressed in these
guidelines are those of staff only. These
views have not been approved or
adopted by the Commission and they
are not binding on the Commission.
However, the guidelines will serve as
enforcement criteria for staff in
assessing compliance with the Used Car
Rule.

The Used Car Rule is primarily
interrded to prevent oral
misrepresentations and unfair omissions
of material facts by used car dealers
concerning warranty coverage. The Rule
requires clear disclosure through a
window sticker, called the “Buyers
Guide,” of any warranty coverage and
the terms and conditions of any dealer-
offered warranty, including the duration
of warranty coverage and the
percentage of total repair costs that the
dealer will pay. The Rule also requires
certain additional disclosures on the
Buyers Guide, including: a suggestion
that consumers ask the dealer if a pre-
purchase inspecticn is permitted; a
warning against reliance on spoken
promises that are not confirmed in
writing: and a list of the fourteen major
systems of an automobile and defects
that can occur in these systems.

In addition, the Rule provides that the
Buyers Guide disclosures are
incorporated into the sales contract.
Dealers are required to place a spacific,

215 U3.C. 45(mil1){A)
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two-sentence disclosure in the sales
contract informing the purchaser that, in
the event of any inconsistency between
the Buyers Guide and the sales contract,
the information on the Buyers Guide will
govern. The Rule also requires dealers
to give a copy of the Buyers Guide
reflecting the final warranty terms to the
purchaser. '

When the used car transaction is
conducted in Spanish, the Rule requires
that the dealer display a Spanish-
language version of the Buyers Guide on
the vehicle prior to offering the vehicle
for sale. The Rule includes a text for the
Spanish-language version.

These guidelines explain the Rule's
requirements, section by section. The
discussion includes illustrations of how
the Rule applies in specific fact
situalions that are faced by many
dealers. If further compliance questions
arise, dealers may seek andnformal staff
advisory upinion,* or if appropriate, a
formal advisory opinion from the
Coumnmission, as provided for in Section
1.1 through 1.4 of the Commission's
Rules of Practice, 16 CFR 1.1-1.4.

H. What Transactions Does the Rule
Cover?

Cenerally, all sellers of used vehicles
are covered by the Rule, except those
who sell, or offer to sell, fewer than six
{6) used vehicles in a twelve month
period. A used vehicle is any car, light-
duty van or light-duty truck that hag
been driven more than the distance
necessary for test driving or moving the
vehicle prior to delivery to a consumer.

The following definitions, included in
the Used Car Rule, provide more
detailed information as to the persons,
firms, and vehicles that are covered by
the Rule. The Used Car Rule does not
affect the definitions of terms in state
law such as “dealer,” “used vehicle,”
“new vehicle,” or "vehicle.” Likewise,
state law definitions of the specific
terms set out in § 455.1(d) of the Rule
have no effect on the Used Car Rule.

A. “Vehicle” Defined—Section
455.1(d){1)

For the purposes of the Rule, a
“vehicle” is defined as “any motorized
vehicle, other than a motorcycle, with a
gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) [the
loaded weight] of less than 8,500 lbs., a
curb weight [the weight of an unloaded
vehicle] of less than 6,000 Ibs., and a
frontal area of less than 48 8q. ft.”" Thus,
the Rule covers automobiies, including
“classic cars,” as well as most light-duty
vans and light-duty trucks. Due to the

* Staff may be contacted at the address listed in
the beginning of these guidelines, under the heading
“For further Information.”

limit on the vehicle size built into this
provision, large trucks and recreational
vehicles generally are not covered,

Staff believes the Rule also does not
apply to the sale of tractors, combines,
tillers, and other vehicles that are
designed primarily for agricultural use,
but which meet the definition of the term
“vehicle” that is set forth in the Rule. -
Motorcycles are not covered by the
Rule. Staff believes that mopeds, like
motorcycles, also are not covered by the
Rule.

B. “Used Vehicle” Defined—Section
455.1(d)(2)

Under the Rule, the term “used
vehicle” includes all vehicles that have
been “driven more than the limited use
necessary in moving or road testing a _
new vehicle prior to delivery to a
consumer.” This definition, therefore,
includes demonstrators and company
cars.® However, a vehicle sold as scrap
or for its parts and not as an operating
vehicle is specifically excluded from the
definition of used vehicle, if the dealer
surrenders any title documents to the
appropriate state authority and obtains
a salvage certification. Illustrations 2.5
and 2.7 discuss the application of the
Rule to demonstrator vehicles.
Dlustration 2.6 discusses how the Rule
applies when a vehicle is transferred
from one dealer to another.

C. “Dealer” Defined—Section 455.1(d)(3)

Under the Rule, the term “deaier”
includes any person or business that is
presently selling or offering for sale a
used vehicle, after having sold or offered
for sale five or more used vehicles
during the previous twelve months. In
other words, a person or business
becomes a “dealer,"” for purposes of the

_FTC Used Car Rule, upon offering for

sale the sixth used vehicle in twelve
months. The Rule does not impose any
requirements on persons or businesses
that offer fewer than six used vehicles
for sale in twelve months. Illustrations
2.1 and 2.2 discuss this provision of the
Rule. -

The Used Car Rule's definition of
“dealer” specifically excludes banks
and finangcial institutions selling used
vehicles. However, the Rule applies to
the retail sale of used vehicles by
affiliates and subsidiaries of banks or
financial institutions. Hlustration 2.11

discusses the application of the Rule to
banks,

® As uged in these guidelin=s, the term
"demonstrator” refers to "new" vehicles that havs
never been sold to a retall customer, but have been
driven for purposes other than test drives or
moving. This may include use by ihe dealer, the
desler’s employees, the dealer's corporate officers,
or anyone else.

Section 455.1{d}(3} of the Rule alsa
excludes sales of used vehicles by a
business to its own employees. In
addition, the term “dealer” excludes a
lessor offering to sell  leased vehicle to
any of the following parties: (1} The
lessee; {2) an employee of the lessee; or
(3) a buyer procured by the lessee.®
Sales and offers for sale by lessors to all
other parties are covered by the Rule. if
8 lessee offers for pale (other than to its
employees) more than five leased
vehicles within a twelve month period,
the lessee most comply with the Rule
because the lessez fits the definition of
“dealer” and is not apecifically
excluded. Nustration 2.8 discusses how
the Rule applies to the sale of leased
vehicles,

D. “Consumer” Definad—Section
455.1(d){4)

For purposes of the Lised Car Rule, the
term “consumer” is broadly defined to
include any person whe is nct 2 used
vehicle dealer. Section 455.2(a) of the
Rule requires you {the dealer) to prepare
and display a Buyers Guide before
offering to sell a used vehicle to a
consumer. In the Statement of Basis and
Purpose, the Cemmission indicated that
the term “censurner” also includzs small .
businesses. 49 FR 45832, 45704 (1984). If
you are offering to sell a used vehicle
only to another deeler, the Rule does not
apply tc the sale of that vehicle.
Mustrations 2.9 anc 2.4 highlight this
provision of the Ruls.

E. Consignment Sales

Befors you offer io sell a used vehicle
that you have on ysur lot through a
consignment, pewer of atiorney or other
such agreement, the Rule reguires you to
prepare and dispiay a Buyers Guide.
The point to remember is that whenever
you, the dealer, offer to sell 5 nsed
vehicle to a consumer, you are
responsible for making sure that there is
full compliance with the Rule. If you are
a dealer who corsigns a car to another
dealer for sale to a consumer on your
behalf, both you and the other dealer
are responeible for complying with the
Rule.

F. Auctions

The Rule does not apply if you offer to
sell a vehicle through an auction that is
open only o other dealers. It does apply
when your vehicles are offered for sale
at an auction tk:at is open to
conswmers.”

¢ See Stalement of Basis and Purposs, 48 FR at
45708,

? See 52 FR 34765 [1087) {Commission declined ta
exempt from the Used Car Rule sales to consumears
of used vehicles at cuctions thet are apen to
consumers.}
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The auction company is algo covered
by the Rule if it has scid.or offered ta.
sell six or more used vshicleg o

y, consumers within & twelve month
s period. In.this case, as with consignment

...~ sales, both you and the auction

- awPaay wre responsible tor complying
with the Rule. See lllustrations 2.8-2.10
"o T oherddisel ion of sales through
auctions.

G. Where Does tne Rule Apply?

The Used Car Rule was issued by the
FTC based upon two sources of
authority: Section 109(b) of the
Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15
U.5.C. 2309(b), and secticn 18 of the
Federal Trade Commission Act, 15.
U.8.C. 57a. These Acts apply in all 50
states, the District of Columbia, the
Coimanwealth of Puerto Rico, the U.S.
Virgin Islands. Guam and American
Samor. 15 LL5.C, 23010158), In addition,
the Rult covers vehicles exported from
the Uinited Stutes for sale 2t military
post exchunges. 16 CEFR 700.1(1).

Therefore, with the sxceptions of
Wisconsin and Maine, which have been
granted stalewide exemptions, the Used
Car Rule applies in each of thege
jurisdictions. The Cenvnission granted
these exemptions under $ 455.8 of the
Rule, based oy the finding that the
relevant law in each stete “afforda an
overall level of protection to consumers
ihat is as grest as, or greater then, that

«——afforded by the Used Csr Rule." 51 FR

20936, 20843 {(1u86); 53 ¥H 18390, 16384
(1958].
1. The Buyers Guida
A. General Infarmation

Section 485 2 of the Rule requires
dealers to prepare and Jiaplay a
window sticker called the “Buyers
Guide" befure offering 2 used vehicle for
sale to a consumer. The Buyers Guids
must disclose whether any warranty is
offered and the basic terms of any
warranty. If the dealer-does not provide
an express warranty, then the Buyers
Guide must indicate thei the vehicle is
being offered for sale “as ie" (witk no
express or implied wevanties), or with
only thi: appheabl- “uuglied warranties”
required by siztc law. Each of these
terms is explained on the Buyers Guide.

The Buyers Guide also includes
several additional disclosures, including:
A list of the fourtzer major systems of
an sutomobile and defects that can
occur in thesz aystems; a auggestion that
consumery ask the dealer if a pre-
purchase inspection in permitted; and a

~-Warning against relier ce on spoken

\romises that are nct confirmed in

&Jvritin'g. Finally, a! the time of zale, the

dealer must give tha buyer the original

Buysrs Guida (or an accurate copy]) that
wwae diepiayed an the vehicla. This
Buyers Guidw must reflect the final
warranty terma agreed on between the
buyer and seller.

B. Preparing the Buyers Guide

Section 455.2(a) of the Rule explains.
how to fill in the Buyers Guide. You
must complete four different parts.of the
preprinted Buyere Guide: (1) Vehicle
information; (2] warranty information;
{3) servce contract availability; and (4)
dealer identification and consumer
complaint information.

1. Buyers Guide Format-—Section
455.2(a)

The Rule requires dealers to use the
exact format for the Buyers Guide that is
shown in the Rule. The text of the Rule
containg a model Buyers Guide, in both
English znd Spanish, and also provides
specific printing instructions. Dealers
may print their own Buyers Guides or
get copies from eny other source, such
as trade assaciations and from
companies,

All Buyers Guides must comply
exactly with the standardized wording,
type style, type size, end format
reguired by the Rule, Section 455.2(a)(2)
of the Rule requires that the Buyers
Guide be printad in 100% black ink on
white stock that is at least 11 inches
high and 7% inches wide.. Dealers also
may post a completely separate window
sticker to make other truthful and non-
deceptive information known to the
conaumer, es long as that information
dnes ret conflict with the Buyers Guide
end the eales contract. :

2. Vehicle Informntion—Section 455.2{d)
In the epsans provided at the top of
the Bnyers Guide, fill in the vehicle
make, model, model year, and vehicls
identification number (VIN). You may
write in a dealer stock number in the

space provided or you may leave this
space blank, -

3. Warcaniy Inforreation—S8ection
455.2(1)

a. "As l5-—Ng Warranty" version, tf
you affer « velsicle “ag is," which means
without any express or implied
warranties, mark the box provided next
to the "As Is—No Warranty"” disclosure.
The Used Car Rule does not affect any
state law that requires you to use
epecial language or a separate form to
make an effective “as is" sale. "As ia”
disclusuizs will excuse you from
lisbility under state law only if you
follow state law requirements for -
nieking the diaclosure, Hllnstration 3.2
further discusges this peition of the
Ruia

b. “implied Warranties Only" version.
Eome gtates limit or prohibit the sale of
used vehicles “as is." The Used Car Rula
does not override such state laws. In
those states § 455.2(b){1){ii) of the Rule
requires you to use the version of the
Buyers Guide containing the following
“Implied Warranties Only™ heading
instead of the "4 ls—No Warranty"
heading:

Implied Warranties Only. This means that
the dealer does not make any specific
promises to fix things that need repair when
you buy the vehicle or after the time of sale.
But, state law “impliad wasranties” may give
you some rights to have the dealer tuke care
of serious prublems that were not apparent
when you brought the vehicle,

If you are not offering an express
warranty, the “Implied Warrarties
Only"” box raust be checked. ¥ you offer
Af express warranty, check the
"Wartanty" box nn this Bavers Guide.

in states that sliow “es 13" aales vou
#is0 mual - the “Implied Warranties
Only” heeding when you choose to offer
only implied warranties. If a atate
allows “as is" cales for zome, bat not all,
used vehicles, you may use an “As lg—
Ne Warrenty™ Buvers Geide on those
vehicles that the state will slinw you to
ol vagis

Buvers Guidas with the "nried
Warranties Only” heading are available
irom he samea sources that supply the
“As la—No Warranty” version of the
Buyers Gaide. Alternatively, dealers
could have the "Tniplied Weiranlies
Only" disclosure printed on labels, and
then sizmply affix these labele to the
Buyers Guide, covering up the “As lg—
No Warranty"” state. illustration 2.1
diseusses uce of Buyers Cuides with the
“traplied Warrontias Only” besding.
Appendix & gives an axamule of the
"Implied Warranties Only” Huvers
Guide.

c. Filling in the Warraniy Fortion of
the Buyers Guide. Dealers who offer &
warranty on the vehicle must mark the
lurge hox next to the word “warranty,"”
and complete the other parts of the
warranty saction of the Buysrs Guide,
Suction 465.2{b]. First, mark ane of the
stnaller boxes to indicate winthar the
werranty offered fg “Full” or "Limuted.”
Section 455.2(b){2}i). Under federal low
your warranty is “full” if esch ot the
following fiva statements about your
warranty's terme snd conditinns is
trug:®

8 Thare stundands £re s+t oul in section 163 of the
Magmison-hdoaa Warrasty Act. 16 11.8.0. 230+ The
Msgnnson-Mas: Ant does not apply 6 vebictes
mwranuiaciurad before fuly 4, 1875, Therefore, in
uffering such vekicles for zale, deelere ere not
requived to indicete vhether the warrznty offered 1s
Continued
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(1) You provide warranty service to
anyone who owns the vehicle during the
warranty peried, when they report a
problem.

{2) You provide warranty service free
of charge, inchiding such costs as
returning the vehicle or remeving and
reinstalling a “covered” system when
necessary.

(3} You provide, at the consemer's
choice, either a replacement or a full
refund if you are unable, after a
reasonable number of tries, to repair the
vehicle.

(4) You do not require consumers to
perform any duty as a precondition for
receiving service, except notifying you
that service is needed, unlesa you can
deuicnstrate that the duty is reascnable.

(5) Yoe do not limit the duration of
implied warranties.

If any une of these statements is not
true. then your warranty is “limited.” A
“limuted” warranty tells your customers
that there are some costs or
responsibilities that you will not cover
for the specified systems.

A "full” or “limited” warranty need
not cover the entire vehicle. You may
give a “full” warranty on some systems,
and a "limited" warranty on others. If
most systems are covered by a “limited"”
warranty, check the limited warranty
box, and list which systems will be
covered by a full warranty. See
Hlustration 3.4 for an additional
discussion of this issue.

Second, fill in the percentage of the
repair cost that will be paid by the
dealer. For example, "The dealer will
pay 100% of the labor and 100% of the
parts * * “" ® See lllustration 3.8 for a
discussion of how the Rule applies to
the use of a deductible. Section
455.2(b){2)(iv).

Third, indicate which of the specific
systems are covered. Do not use
shorthand terms such as “drive train" or -
“power train”. Rather, indicate the exact
systems (e.g., frame and body, brake
systems, etc.) that are covered. A list of
the major systems of an automobile is
printed on the back of the Buyers Guide.
Those terms may be used to indicate the
specific systems covered by the
warranty. Hlustration 3.5 provides an
explanation of how to disclose the
systems covered. Section 455.2{b}{2)tii).

Some dealers may wish to provide
warranty coverage for some systems of
a used vehicle and at the same time

“full” or “limited.” Rather, dealers may simply cross
out the terms “full" and “limited,” leaving just the
term “warranty.” However, ail ather provistons of
the t/sed Car Rule apply to sates of such vehicles.
® The Used Car Rule does not require that a

dealer-pay any specific percentage of repair or labor
costs. The figure in the example is-provided only fer
illustration. )

disclaim alt other express or implied
warranty coverage for the other systems
of the car. A dealer may use the space
provided for warranty disclosures to
write in any disclaimers or exclusions.
You may enlarge the Buyers Guide, if
necessary, to provide additional
warranty information. Mlustration 3.3
further discusses this iasue.

Fourth, indicate the duration of the
warranty. For example, "30 daye or 1,000
miles, whichever occurs first.” ¥ there
are different durations for different
systems, write out each different
duration. if the duration of the wasranty
is the same for all systems covered by -
the warranty, you need only write the
duration once. Section 455.2(b){2)(ii).

d. Unexpired Manufacturer’s
Warranties. If you choose, you may '
disclose unexpired manufacturer's
warranties in the warranty section of
the Buyers Guide. To disclose that a
manufacturer’s warranty still applies an
a used vehicle, staff suggests that
dealers use one of two methods, )
depending on whether the dealer offers
a warranty in addition to the unexpired
manufacturer’s warranty. Section

455.2{b}(2}{v).

First, if additional warranty coverage

18 not offered by the dealer, the dealer
should check the large box to indicate
that a “warranty™ is affered, and then
simply fill in {with a rubber stamp, if
desired) the following statement, which
is set forth in § 455.2(b)(2)(v]):

MANUFACTURER'S WARRANTY STELL
APPLIES. The manfacturer's original
warranty has not expired on the vehiele.
Consslt the manufacturer’s warranty booklet .
for details as to warranty coverage, servica
location, etc. ) :

Separately, and beneath that )
statement, the dealer may add the
following language, but only if permitted

by state law to sell a used vehicle on an :

*'as i8” basis:
The dealership itself assumes no

responsibility for any repairs, regerdiess of
any oral statements about the vehicle. All

warranty coverage comes from the unexpired .

manufacturer's warranty.

An example of a completed Buyers
Guide with this language is included as
Appendix B to these guidelines. ’

Seeond, if a dealership warranty is
offered and the dealer also cheoses to
disclose the unexpired menufacturer's

-warranty, the dealer should: (1) Mark

the large box to indicate that a
“warranty" is offered, and fully :
complete the rest of the Buyers Guide's
warranty section, indicating whether the
dealer's warranty is full or limited, what
percentage of parts and labor are
covered, the systems covered, and the
duration of coverage, as required by

§ 455.2(b) of the Rule: and (2) fill i fwith
a rubber stamp, if desired]) the
unexpired manufacturer’'s warranty
statement below the dealer's warranty
disclosure. An example of a completad
Buyers Guide with this language iz
included as Appendix C to these
guidelines.

e. Mandatory Warrenties. Although
the Used Car Rule does not require
dealers to disclose on the Buyers Guide
warranties that are the fesponafbility of
another party, such as the manufacturer,
the Rule does require deslers to disclose
information about afl warranty coverage
that they provide. Therefore, if federal,
state, or local laws require you ia give 2
specific warranty on a used vehicle that
you offer for sale, you must briefly
describe this warranty on the Buyers
Guide.? Section 455.2(b)(2). This
warranty information should be
included ih the “systems covered/
duration” portion of the Buyers Guide. If
necessary, you may enlarge the “syatem
covered/duration” portion of the Buyers
Guide to accommodate additianal
warranty information. Yoz also must
fully comply with disclosurs
requirements of the staie os local aw.,
For example, you must comply with &
state or local law that requires you to
give the consumer a separate veRrTanty
document.1?

4. Service Contract Avaitability

A "service contract” is defined in
Section 455.1(dJ{7) of the Uged Car Rule
as “a contract in writing for any peried
of time or any specific mileage to refund,
repair, replace, or maintain & weed
vehicle [which is] pmvideg g?; an extra
charge beyand the price o msed
vehicle.” (emphasis added). Although a
warranty also may provide such
protection it is distinguishable from =
service contract because it is provided
at no extra charge beyond the price of
the vehicle.

If you offer a service contract an &
particular vehicle, § 455.2(b}(3} requires
you te mark the box previded on the
Buyers Guide, next to the following

‘ disclosure:

SERVICE CONTRACT. A eervice eonfract
is svallahle at an extra charge on this vebicls.
If you buy a service comirast within 89 daye of
the time of sale, state law “imphised
warranties” may give you additiona! righte.

19 For ong exampls, see New York Geners!

‘Business Law Section 188-b. Thie pravision of New

York law requiren dewalars to give conpumers wwritten
warranties cavering seves mechanical spstems of
any used vehicle that ia sokd for over %3540,

1 See, 6.9, New Yoek General Buglnese Law
Section 198-b(b).
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Remember: When a dealer enters into
8 service contract with a consumer

=, within 80 days of selling the vehicle,

; federal law prohibits the dealer from

7 disclaiming implied warranties on the

avetems covered in that service contract.
For example, if you are a dealer who
sells a car “as is," the car normally will
—uvue vovered Ly uupucd warranties
{assuming that state law permits “as is"
sales). But if you also enter into a
service contract covering the engine for
six months, you automatically provide
an implied warranty on the engine.

If you are in a state that regulates
service contracts as the “‘business of
insurance,” you need not include the
service contract disclosure on your

- Buyers Guides. Section 455.2(b)(3). In
those states, you have the option to
check the box next to the service
contract disclosure, cross out the service
contract disclosure, delete it from the
Buyers Guide, or do nothing to change
the pre-printed Buyers Guide that you
have obtained.

5. Dealer Identification and Consumer
Complaint Information

Put the name and address of your
dealership in the space provided on the
back of the Buyers Guide. If you do not
have a dealership. use the name and

", address of your place of business (for

lexample, your service station) or your

- own name and home address. Section

455.2(c).

In the space provided below the
dealer's name and address, you must
put the name and telephone number of
the person to contact if the buyer has a
complaint. You might want to include
the position of the person to be
contacted, along with their name, so that
consumers will know who to contact if
the individual named has left the
dealership. Section 455.2(e).

C. Spanish Language Sales—Section
455.5

Section 455.5 of the Rule sets forth a
Buyers Guide in Spanish that must be
used by a dealer who conducts a sale in
Spanish. From a practical standpoint,
dealers must post both the English and
Spanish versions of the Buyers Guide
where a substantial number of sales are
made in both languages. See Illustration
3.10 for a further discussion of this
provision of the Rule.

D. How to Display the Buyers Guide
The Buyers Guide must be displayed

—~-.._in a side window of the vehicle so that

\the front side {with the title "Buyers

\//Guide"] faces the outside. You may

display copies of both the front and
back of the Buyers Guide so that hoth

sides can be read from outside. Section
455.2({a)(1).

The Buyers Guide should be firmly
affixed to the inside of the side window.
This may be accomplished using any
method you select, such as tape, light
glue, etc. If desired, you may display the
Buyers Guide inside a clear plastic
sleeve which-liuids the Buyers Guide
against the inside of the side window. If
necessary, the form may be removed
from the window temporarily during a
test drive, but you must return it to the
window as soon as the test drive is over.

E. Changes in Warranty Coverage

If you and the buyer agree to any
changes in the warranty that was
described on the Buyers Guide, you
must write those changes onto the
Buyers Guide. Section 455.2(b)(2)(v)
{paras. 2-3). If, for instance, the car was
originally offered with a warranty, but
following negotiations it was actually
sold without a warranty, cross out the
offered warranty and mark the “As Is—
No Warranty" or “Implied Warranties
Only" box, as appropriate. If you first
offer the vehicle for sale “as is" (or with
only implied warranties), but then sell it
with a warranty, simply cross out the
box for the “As Is—No Warranty"
Disclosure (or the "Implied Warranties
Only” disclosure) and fill in the
warranty terms. In these cases, be sure
that the Buyers Guide that you give to
the buyer accurately reflects the final
warranty terms. Appendix D and
Illustrations 3.7 and 3.8 further explain
this provision of the Rule.

In addition to noting any agreed-upon
changes in warranty coverage on the
Buyers Guide, you must remember to
include the final warranty terms in your
sales contract or separate warranty
document. Section 455.4. Your contract
with the consumer may include several
documents. It might include a “sales
contract” as well as a separate warranty
document that gives detailed warranty
information. Whether you make
warranty disclosures in the sales
contract or in a separate warranty
document, you must remember to make
any necessary changes to the warranty
information to reflect the final warranty
terms after negotiations with the
customer. Sales contract and warranty
disclosures are discussed in more detail
in the next section.

IV, Sales Contract and Warranty
Disclosures

A. The Used Car Rule’s Requirements

Pursuant to § 455.3(b) of the Rule,
information on the Buyers Guide will
override-any contrary provisions that
there may be in the sales contract. To

inform consumers of this provision of
the Used Car Rule, you must place the
disclosure that follows in the sales
contract in a conspicuous manner:

The information you see on the window
form for thie vehicle is part of this contract.
Information on the window form overrides
anly contrary provisions in the contract of
sale.!?

See Illustration 4.1 for a discussion of
whether a financing document must
contain the disclosure.

B. The Warranty Disclosure Rule's
Requirements

If you offer a warranty, you must . .
comply with the Federal Trade
Commission's Warranty Disclogure
Rule, 18 CFR Part 701. The disclosures
required by this Rule may be placed in
the “'sales contract” or in a separate
warranty document, but they must all
appear together in the same document.
Specifically, in simple and readily
understood language, your warranty
document must:

(1) State whether the warranty offered
is “full" or "limited.”

(2) Indicate the percentage of the
repair costs that you will pay.

(3) List the specific systems that are
covered by the warranty.

(4) List any parts or systems that sre
excluded from coverage under the
warranty, if it is necessary for
clarification. For example, “battery not
covered.”

(5) Indicate the duration of warranty
coverage for each of the covered
systems.

(8) Explain how a customer gets
warranty service. Include your
company's name, address, snd the
telephone number of the person to call
concerning warranty service.

(7) Include the following disclosure:
“This warranty gives you specific legal
rights, and you may also have other
rights which vary from state to state.”

(8) Disclose all obligations that the
consumer has, if any, as a condition to
obtaining warranty service.

(9} Include the following disclosure
only if you wish to limit the duration of
implied warranties: “Some states do not
allow limitations on how long an
implied warranty lasts, so the above
limitation may not apply to you.”

(10) Include the following disclosure
only if you wish to exclude or limit
consequential or incidental damages:

'# 16 CFR 455.3(b). The Spanish translation of this
disclosure is: La informacion que aparece en la
ventanilla de este vehiculo forma parte de este
contrato. La informacion contenida en el formulario
de la ventanilla anula cualquier prevision que
estabiezca lo contrarin y que sparezce en el
contrato de venta.
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“Some states do not allow the exclusion
or limitation of incidental or
consequential damages, so the above
limitation may mot epply te you.”

{11) Indicate who is covered by the
warranty, if you choaga to limit the -
coverage. For example, “warranty
covers only the original purchaser” or
“commercial use excluded.” '

Put into the warranty document
everything that you will do and
everything that you expect your

" customers to do under the warranty.

Make sure that your customers can find
each item of information in the warzanty
easily.

The Federal Trade Cammission has
prepares several publications that alsa
may help you to cormply with the laws
end regulations governing warrantiea.
"Writing Peadable Warranties" is
available for $2.00, from the
Superintendent of Docwnents,
Washington, DC 20402, GPQ QOrder #:
018--000-600363-1. "“A Businessperson’s
Guide to Federal Warranty Law,” GPO
Oider #: 018-000-00324-4, i8 available
for $1.50, also from the Superintendent
of Documenis. A supplement to that
publicalion, containing the relevant
statules and regulationa, ia available at
no charge from the Publications Branch,
Federal Trade Commission,
Washington, [JC 20580.

You may also want to canselt your
lawyer to he sure that your warranty
meets all the requirementa of both
Federal and state laws.

V. Conlrary Statements—Sectien 455.4

Section 455.4 of the Rule prohibits
dealers from making “any statements,
oral or written, or takiing} other sctions
which alter or contradict the disclosures
required by §§455.2 and 455.3 (of the
Rule).” For example, you may not write
that there is a warranty on the Buyers
Guide, but disclaim all warranties tn the
contract of sale. As discussed in section
IV(A) of these guidelines, the
information om the Buyers Guide
supercedes contrary information in the
contract, under § 455.3(b} of the Rule.
However, staff does not interpret § 455.4
to mesn that the Used Car Rule
protbits a dealer from repairing a
vehicle that was sold “as is."

V1. State Exemption Pefitions—Section
455.8

The Used Car Rule includes a speeific
provision that sets out the sterrdurds for
granting statewide exemptions from the
Rule. This provision States thet the Elsed
Car Rule will not be in effect in a state,
to the extent specified by the
Commission, where:

{1} There is a state requitement fn
effect which epplies to any transsetion
to which this ride applies, and

(2) That state requirement affords an
overalf level of protection to consumers
which is as great as, or greater than, the
protection afforded by [the Used Car}
Rule; * * * for as long as the State
administers and enfarces effectively the
state requirement. .

Final staff guidelines for state
exemption petitions have been
developed for the Commission's Trade
Regulation Rule Concerning Funeral
Industry Practices, 186 CFR Past 453 [the
“Funeral Rule'}. The state exempton
provision in the Funeral Rule (18 CFR
4538} is virtually identical to the Used
Car Rule provigicn {18 CFR 4558 -
Therefare, staff recommends that states
that are interested in filing a petition for
statewide exemgption from the Used Car
Rule consult the state exemption
guidelines for the Funeral Rule for more
detailed information about § 4558 of the
Rule. These gridelines (published at 50
FR 12521 (1985]] provide an emalysis of
the procedures and materials that staff
believes are relevant io an exemption
praceeding.

VIL Blusizetion:
When Does the Rule ApplyF

Illustration Z £ You are opening your
fisst dealexship, and on your Bret dey of
buginess, yor affer ta sell five vaed
vehicles to evaspmers. in the past
twelve months, you have pot affered to
sell any other waed vehiches to
conswrers. Are you covesed by the
Rule?

No. You ase st a “dealer,” because
you heve not offered to sell ot least six
used vehicie is a twelve montk period.

- However, 23 soos as yor offer your

sixth used vehicle for ssle to comuiners
within a twelve month period vou
become a "dealer,” as defined in the
Rule, emd thevefore must prepare and
display & Buyers Guide on all veed
vehicles that you offer for sale to '
consumers. Section 455. 1{d}3}

HFastration 2 2: You ore &n individual
whe occasfonalty buys wsed cars,
repairs thesn, and then offers them for
sate to the public. In the past twelve
monthe, you have offered five used cars
for sefe. You now ere offering to self
your gicth wsed cor to the public. Are
you covered by the Rule?

Yes. Even if you are not considered a
“dealer’” under etete faw, the Rake

‘defines yor as & “dealer." Because you

are offering te self your sixth used
vehicle to consumers within twelve
months, yos mues? comply with aff
aspects of the Rule, including preparing

-

and displaying = Buyers Guide on that
vehicle. Section 455.1{d}{3}.

Hlustratipn 2.3: You are & dealer
affering 0 sell a particular uaed vehicle
only e dealers. You do not offer to gell
the vehicle to consumers. Must you -
comply with the Rule in this instence?

No. Bezsuse poc are net offering to
sell the vehicle to comsumers the Rule
does not apply. Section 458.2(a).

IMustration 2.4: Same as in 2,3 above,
but it is your campany's policy fo offer &
vehicle for sale to consumers for anly 30
days, and then if the vebicle is unnold, it
would be zold to a dealer at whalssale.
Must you comply with the Rule during
the 30 days that the vebicle iz offered fos
sale to consumerg?

Yes. Whesever you offer to sell & goed
vehicle to a consumer, you must consply
with the Rule by prepering end preting &
Buyers Guide before offering the vehicle
for sale. In this example, you would be
required to prepare and diaplay a
Bayers Guide while the used vehicle {2
being offered for sale to comsumers.
However, the Rule does not apply when
yau conduct & wholesale tranzaction,
even if the vehicle was first offered for
sale to consumers. Section 455.2(a).

Hlustration 2.5: You ese & dealer who
regularty offers both new and used
vehicles to the generel public. You
carrently have fous "demonsizates”
vehicles in service. Are the
demonatrators covesed by the Rude?

Yes. Under the Rule demoasivator
vehieles are included writhin the
definition of “nzed veliches.” 12
Therefore, befare you show 2
demronstrator vebiele to & consemer, you
must past a properly completed Buyers
Guide on thst velicle. Derronstraturs
that are segregated from other vehicles
being offered for gale need not have
Buyers Guides displayed at all timea.
However, a8 a practical matter, you may
wish to post Buyers Guides an afi
demonstrators whenever they are en
your lot s0 that you ean ensure your
compliance with the Rule. Om
demonstrators that bave never besn
titled to a consumer, both the Buyers
Guide ansl the psw vehicle disclosurs
sticker {the “Maonsoney Stickes") must

" be posted.!4 Section 455.1(d}{2].

'3 Ser supra note § oz & discyasion of thy kome
“demesetrates.”

14 Tha Auwtomobile bulosmadion Discloamn At
{commoaly known es the Menroney Acti can s
found at 16 U.8.C. 1291-33. See afee Hhe
Commsiasion's Statement of Bacly and Purpose for
the Usest Cer Rulo, ¢S FR ot 45008 n. 256
(recognizing that dealars woold have te daplay
both the Manraney Stieker and the FTC Buyers
Gulde on some vehicles.
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Hlustration 2.6: You are a dealer who
somelimes “transfers’ or "trades” new
s vehicles with another dealer so that you

/can provide your customers with the

7" exact car that they want. Do these trade

cars have to display a Buyers Guide
vefcre you can offer them for sale to a
consumer? :

T L_, Do p) . ..u';ub 8 vaa \-‘H..h
another dealer you have only
accumulated mileage for the purpose of
delivering the vehicle to the consumer.
Therefore, the car would not be a "used
vehicle” under the Rule. Section
455.1(d)(2).

Hlustration 2.7: Same as 2.6 above,
except that the first dealer drove the
vehicle as a demonstrator before trading
it to vou. Does the traded car have to
have a Buyers Guide before it can be'
offered for sale to a consumer?

Yes. if the vehicle was used as a
demonstrator at any time, it must have a
Bi:yers Guide in its side window before
it can be offered for sale to a consumer.
Section 455.1(d)(2).

Hlustration 2.8: You are a dealer who
also leases vehicles. You lease a car to
Jones, who is not a dealer. At the end of
the lease term you offer to sell the car to
Jones. Must you prepare a Buyers Guide
for this vehicle?

No. Although you are a used vehicle

~_ dealer, the Rule does not cover

"

e

}situations in which you sell or offer to

/ sell the leased vehicle to the lessee, to
an employee of the lessee, or to a buyer
who is found by the lessee. Thus, you
would not have to comply with the Rule
if you offered to sell the car to Jones (the
lessee) or to an employee of Jones. In
addition, you would not be required to
display a Buyers Guide if Jones' next
door neighbor asked Jones about buying
the car. But, if you reclaimed the car at
the end of the lease term and then
offered it for sale to the public, the Rule
would apply. Section 455.1(d)(3).

Hlustration 2.9: You are a used vehicle

dealer who sells vehicles, from time to
time, at auctions. These auctions are
open only to other dealers. The only
advertisements for these auctions are in
trade journals. Are these sales covered
by the Rule?

No. Selling at an suction that is open
only to other dealers is just like a non-
auction sale to another dealer: the Rule
does not apply. Sections 455.1(d)(3),
455.2(a).

Hlustration 2.10: Same as 2.9 above,
but instead the auctions are open to
consumers. Are these sales covered?

Yes. Before your used vehicles are

-, oftered for sale, sold, or made available
\Bfor inspection at an auction that is open
/ to consumers, you must prepare and

~  display a Buyers Guide as required by

the Rule. If the vehicle is sold to a

consumer, you must comply with the
other requirements of the Rule, just as if
you had sold the vehicle from your
regular place of business. If your used
vehicle {s sold at the auction to another
dealer, you need not comply with
respect to that particular yehicle. !

Illustration 2.11: In your state, banks
and financiai wstitutions may own or
operate general businesses as separate
entities. You operate & retail used
vehicle dealership that is owned in part
by a bank. Must you comply with the .
Rule?

Yes. The Rule is intended to cover all
used vehicle dealers, regardless of
ownership. However, banks and
financial institutions that directly offer
to sell used cars are not covered by the
Rule. Section 455.1{d)(3); Statement of
Basis and Purpose, 49 FR at 45708,

Preparing the Buyers Guide

Hiustration 3.1: You are offering a
used vehicle for sale in a state that-
prohibits you from selling used vehicles
“as i8.” Do you have to replace the "As
Is—No Warranty" disclosure with the
"Implied Warranties Only" disclosure
on the Buyers Guide?

Yes. The “Implied Warranties Only"
disclosure must appear on the Buyers
Guide in place of the “As Is—No
Warranty" disclosure if: (1} the vehicle
is offered for sale in a state which
prohibits “as is" sales; or (2) you decide
to offer implied warranties, but no other
warranties. In states that prohibit “as
is" sales, the “Implied Warranties Only"
heading must appear on the form even if
you offer an express warranty. If you do
offer a warranty you would leave the
box next to “Implied Waeranties Only”
blank, check the warranty box, and fill
out the rest of the warranty portion of
the Buyers Guide. See Appendix A for
an example of a Buyers Guide
incorporating the “Implied Warrarities
Only" disclosure. Section 455.2(b)(1)(ii).

Ilustration 3.2: You offer all your used-
vehicles for sale on an “as is" basis.
Under the laws of your state, you must
prepare a warranty disclaimer form,
using specific language required by state
law, and have the buyer sign the form.
Can you display that form instead of the
Buyers Guide?

No. The state law requirement does
not affect your obligation to prepare and
poat a Buyers Guide on the used vehicle,
nor will the Buyers Guide substitute for
a state-required form. The Used Car
Rule does not affect your obligations
under state law, so you still must -
comply with all applicable provisions of
state law, including warranty disclaimer
requirements. Sections 455.2(a),
a55.2(b)(1)(). -

Illustration 3.3: You are a dealer who
is offering a used vehicle for sale and
you want to offer a warranty on the
vehicle. You would like to warrant only
the engine, transmission and drive shaft,
differential and e%ctrical systemas, and
you would like to disclaim any
warranties, express or implied, on the
other systems of the vehicle. Can you
indicate this disclaimer dn the Buyers
Guide? '

Yes. Mark the large box to indicate
that a warranty is offered on the vehirle.
Indicate whether the warranty is “full”
or “limited.” 15 Fill in the lines to show
what percentage of parts and labor you
will pay for repairs to covered systems.
Beneath the warranty disclosure, fill in
the list of covered systems, and.the
duration of the warranty coverage for
each covered system. Below that, you
may indicate that you disclaim all
warranties, express or implied, on other
systems or parts of the vehicle. Of
course, you still must describe the
warranty in a separate warranty
document, including the systems
covered and the systems not covered,
This requirement is more fully discussed
in Section IV(B) of these guidelines.

Be careful to check your state's laws
for any restrictions that might applv to
disclaimers of express warranty
coverage or disclaimers of implied
warranty coverage.

Illustration 3.4: You are a dealer who
is offering a warranty on a used vehicie.
The warranty that you offer covers less
than 100% of the cost of labor and parts
for the systems covered. I8 this a “full"
warranty?

No. A “full” warranty is one which
meets the minimum standards for a
warranty under Section 104 of the
Magnuson-Moss Act, 15 U.S.C. 2304. All
other warranties are called “limited.” In
the example provided in this illustration,

.the warranty covers less than 100% of

the repair costs of the covered systems, \
and thus does not meet one of the \
elements of a “full" warranty. The
elements of a “full" warranty are
discussed more completely in the text
that accompanies footnote 8, supra.
Section 455.2(a)(2)(il.

Hlustration 3.5: You are a dealer who
wishes to previde & warranty covering
all vehicle systems shown on the
reverse of the Buyers Guide. Under
“systems covered” in the warranty
section of the Buyers Guide, can you
write “all systems shown on reverse of
the Buyers Guide"?

Yes. To indicate that your warranty
covers all systems shown on the reverse

1% See supro text accompanying note 8 for a
diacussion of the terms “full” and "limited."
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side of the Buyers Guide, write in the _
"systems covered” section that the
warranty covers: “All systems shown on
the reverse side of the Buyers Guide.” If
you choose to use this sentence, you
must specifically list in the “systems
covered” section any systems not
covered. For example, if your warranty
covers all systems shown on the reverse
of the Buyers Guide, except for the fuel
system, write: ""All systems shown on
the reverse side of the Buyers Guide,
except the fuel system.” ’

You may not use shorthand terms,
such as “power train” ar “drive train” to
describe the systems covered by a
warranty. These requirements are
designed so that both you and the
consumer will understand exactly what
is covered by the warranty. This avoids
misunderstandings and potential
disputes that might otherwise occur.
Section 455.2(a)(2){ii).

Illustration 3.6: You offer a warranty
that covers 100% of labor and parts, but
with a $50 deduclible over the course of
the warranty. Should you fill in “100%"
on the Buyers Guide in the lines for
percentage of repair cost covered under
the warranty?

Yes. Fill in “100%*" in the lines for
percentage of parts and labor, and
include a note to explain the deductible
on the first line of the "'systems covered/

| duration” portion of the Buyers Guide.
/ Fur example, on the first line of the

“systems covered/duration” portion,
write: "*—A one-time $50 deductible
will apply on repairs.” See Appendix E
for an example of a completed Buyers
;uide with this language. Section
455.2(a)(2){iv).

lllustration 3.7: You are a dealer who
Is offering a used car for sale “as is" in a
stale that permits such sales. The Buyers
Guide displayed on the vehicle indicates
that the car is offered “as is." However,
after negotiating with the buyer, you
agree to warrant the vehicle's engine for
90 days or 3,000 miles, whichever comes
firet, and to pay 75% of the cost of parts
and labor involved in necessary repairs
during the warranty period. Do you have
to change the Buyers Guide before you
give it to the buyer?

Yes. Before you give the buyer a copy
of the Buyers Guide, you must change it
to indicate the warranty you have
agreed to provide. In the alternative, you
may simply fill out a new Buyers Guide
with the new information. If, however,
you choose to change the “old" Buyers
Guide, first cross out the “As Is—No
Warranty” box. Next, fill in the
warranty portion of the Buyers Guide
just a8 you would if you were originally
offering the car with that warranty.
Remember that the final warranty terms
must be included in the sales contract
for the car. An example of the front of a
Buyers Guide like the one described in
this illustration is included as Appendix
D to these guidelines. Sections =~ .
455.2(a)(2)(v) (paras. 2~3), and 455.4.

Ilustration 3.8: Same as above, but
instead you originally offered the car
with a warranty, Now you want to sell it
with implied warranties only. Do you
have to change the Buyers Guide before
you offer the vehicle with implied
warranties only? :

Yes. You should cross out the
warranty portion of the Buyers Guide
and mark the box for the “Implied
Warranties Only"” disclosure.
Alternatively, you could prepare a new
Buyers Guide, and just mark the box
next to the “Implied Warranties Only"”
disclosure. Sections 455.2(a)(1)(ii),
455.2(a)(2)(v) {paras. 2-3), and 455.4.

Ilustration 3.9: Your dealership has a
used vehicle that is still being prepared
for sale. A consumer is interested in
looking at that vehicle, with the
understanding that it cannot be
delivered until the preparations are
complete. Does the vehicle need to have
a Buyers Guide?

Yes. Before you offer to sell, show, or
actually sell any used vehicle to a
consumer, you must prepare and display
a Buyers Guide in the side window of °
that vehicle. Therefore, you may want to
prepare and display a Buyers Guide
soon after you acquire the vehicle.
Section 455.2(a).

Hlustration 3.10: You are a dealer who
makes a substantial number, but not a
majority, of your sales to Spanish
speaking customers. Your staff is trained

to conduct sales in both Spanish and
English. Should you display both a
Spanish and English version of the
Buyers Guide on all your vehicles?

Yes. To ensure your compliance with
the Rule, it is a good idea to post both
versions of the Buyers Guide if you
expect that a zale could be conducted in
either Spanish or English. A Spanish
language Buyers Guide must be posted .
on a used vehicle before you begin to
discuss, in Spanish, that vehicle with &

. customer. Therefore, as a practical way

to ensure compliance, you should pest
both English and Spanish Buyers Guides
if you make a large number of sales in
both languages. Sections 455.2, 455.5.

Sales Contract and Warranty
Disclosures

Hllustration 4.1: When you sell a
vehicle, you complete a customer order,
or bill of sale, and, if the consumer
finances the vehicle, a financi
document prepared by a bank. Do both
of these documents have to contain the
contract disclosure required by
§ 455.3(b) of the Rule?

No. The disclosure is required only on
the “contract of sale.” The contract of
sale is the document by which you agree
to transfer title to the vehicle upon
payment of the purchase price. The
“financing agreement” must contain this -
disclosure if the document contains a
clause stating that the financing
document represents the complete and
total agreement between the dealer and
the consumer, or if the financing
agreement is the only document given to
the consumer to record the transaction.

List of Subjects in 18 CFR Part 455
Used cars, Trade practices.

By direction of the Commission.
Emily Rock,
Secretary.

Editorial note.—This form, which appears
in the Code of Federal Regulations in 16 CFR
Part 455, is republished for the convenience
of the reader.

" BILLING CODE 6760-01-M
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N BUYERS GUIDE

IMPORTANT: Spoken promises are difficult to enforce. Ask the dealer to put all promises in writing. Keep this form.

YEHICLE MAKE MODEL YEAR Vil NURDER

DEALEA STGCK RUMBER (Optional)

WARRANTIES FOR THIS VEHICLE:

IMPLIED WARRANTIES ONLY

This means that the dealer does not make any specific promises to fix things that need repalr when you buy
the vehicle or atter the time of sale. But, state law “Implled warranties” may glvo you soma rights to have the
dealer tzke care of serlous problems that were not apparent when you bought the vehicle.

] WARRANTY

(] FulL [ LIMITED WARRANTY. The dealer will pay % of the labor and ____% of the parts for
the covered systems that fail during the warranty period. Ask the dealer for a copy of the war-
ranty document for a full explanation of warranty coverage, exclusions, and the dealer's repalr
obligations. Under state law, ‘‘implied warrantles’ may glve you even mdre rights.

SYSTEMS CQVERED: DURATION:

0 SERVICE CONTRACT. A service contract is available at an extra charge on this vehicle. Ask for detslls as to
coverage, deductible, price, and exclusions. If you buy a service contract within 90 days of the time of sale, state
law “implied warranties” may glve you additional rights.

PRE PUFICHASE INSPECTION: ASK THE DEALER IF YOU MAY HAVE THIS VEHICLE INSPECTED BY YOUR
MECHANIC EITHER ON OR OFF THE LOT.

SEE THE BACK OF THIS FORM for important additional information, including a list of some major defects that
may eccur in used motor vehicles.
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Below Is a list of some major defects that rny.o'ecm In used motor vehicles.

| Frame & Body
\\ e Frame-cracka, corrective welds, or rusted through
o Dogtracks—bet or twisted frame
Teoipe ’
Oil leakage, excluding normal sespage
Cracked block or head
Beits missing or inoperable
Knocks or misses related to camshatt litters and
push rods

Abnormal exhaust discharge

Transmission & Drive Shatt

improper fluid level or leakage, excluding normal
se8page

Cracked or damaged case which is visible

Abnormal noise or vibration caused by faulty
transmission or drive shaft

Improper shifting or functioning in-any gear

Manual clutch slips or chatters

Difterential
improper fluid level or ieakage excluding normal
seepage
Cracked or damaged housing which is visible
Abnormal noise or vibration caused by faulty
differential

Cooling System
Leakage inciuding radiator
Improperly functioning water pump

Electrical System .
Batery leakage
improparly functioning alternator, generator,
battery, or starter

. Fuel System
§ Visible leakage
- /f inopsrable Accessories

Gauges or warning devices
Air conditioner
Hoeater & Defroster

Braks System
Fallure warning gt breken -
Pedal not firm under pressura (DOT spec)
Not enough pedal reserve (DOT spec.)
Boes not stop vehicte in straight line (DOT spec.)
Hoses damaged
Drum or rotor too thin (Migr. Specs)
Lining or pad thickness less than 1/32 inch
Power unit not operating o¢ leaking .
Structural or mechanical parts damaged

Stesring System
Too much tree play at steering wheel (DOT 8pecs.)
Free play in linkage more than 14 inch
Steering gear binds or jams
Front wheels aligned improperly (DOT specs.)
Power unit belts cracked or slipping :
Powsr unit fluid level improper

Suspension System,
Ball joint seals damaged
Structural parts bent or damaged
Stavbilizer bar disconnected
Spring broken
Shock absorber mounting loose
Rubber bushings damaged or missing
Radius rod damaged or missing
Shock absorber leaking or tunctioning improparty

Tires
Tread depth less than 2/32 inch
Sizes mismatched
Visible damage

Whea!s
Visible cracks, damage or repairs
Mounting bolts ioose or missing

Exhaust System
Leakags

XYZ Auto Sales, Inc.

ofaLZN

123 Main Street

ADOAESS

Anytown, U.S.P., 01234

Ms. Smith, Used Car Sales Manager

(123) 456-7890

SEE FOR COMPLAINTS

. IMPORTANT: The Information on this form Is part of any contract to buy this vehicle. Removal of this label before

N

kﬁ consumer purchase (except for purpose of test-driving) Is a violation of federal law (16 C.F.R. 455).
]
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T BUYERS CUIDE

IMPORTANT: Spoken promises are difficult to enforce. Ask the dealer to put ail promises in writing. Keep this form.

VEHICLE MAKE MODEL YEAR Vil NUMBER

DEALER STOCK NUMBER (Optlonal)

WARRANTIES FOR THIS VEHICLE:

WARRANTY

YOU WILL PAY ALL COSTS FOR ANY REPAIRS. The dealer assumes no responsibllity for any repairs regardless
of any oral statements about the vsiicle.

O FuLL O LIMITED WARRAMTY. The dealer wili pay _____% of the labor and _____ % of the parts for
the covered systems that fall during the warranty period. Ask the dealer for a copy of the war-
ranty document for a full explanation of warranty coverage, exclusions, and the dealer’s repair
obligations. Under state law, “implied warranties’” may give you even more rights.

SYSTEMS COVERED: " DURATION:
MAMITFACTIIRER" S WARRANTY STTUI. APPIIES. The ma.mﬁa.cﬁ_u:e_ﬂs_o;i_ginal_wanantv
has nnt expired on thig vehicle Consule 4

for details as tn warranty oouerage, service locations, etc,

O SERVICE CONTRACT. A service contract is available at an extra charge on this vehicle. Ask for detalls as to
coverage, deductible, price, and exclusions. If you buy & service contract within 90 days of the time of zale, stste
law “implied warranties’’ may give you additional rights.

PRE PURCHASE INSPECTION: ASK THE DEALER IF YOU MAY HAVE THIS VEHICLE INSPECTED BY YOUR
MECHANIC EITHER ON OR OFF THE LOT.

SEE THE BACK OF THIS FORM for lmportant sdditionat Information, including a list of some major defects that
may occur Ih used motar vehicles. :
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Below is a list of some major defocts that may occur in used motor vehicles. -

Frame & Body
Frame-cracks, corrective weids, or rusted through
Dogtracks—bent or twisted lnmo

Engine
Qil leakags, exciuding normal seepage
Cracked block or head
Beits missing or inoperable
Knocks or misses related to camshatt lifters and
push rods
Abnormal exhaust discharge

Trenamission & Drive Shaft )

improper fiuid level or leakage, excluding normal
seepage

Cracked or damaged case which is visible

Abnormal nolse or vibration caused by faulty
transmission or drive shaft

improper shifting or functioning in any gear

Manual clutch slips or chatters

Ditferantial
improper fluid level or lsakage excluding normal
seepage
Cracked or damaged housing which is visible
Abnormal noise or vibration caused by fauity
differential

Cooling System
Leakage including radiator
improperly functioning water pump

Electrical System
Battery leakage
improperly functioning siternator, generator,
battery, or starter

Fuel System
Visible leakage

inoperable Accessories
Gauges or warning devices
Air conditioner
Heater & Defroster

Brake System
Faliure warning light broken
Pedal not firm under prezsure (DOT spec.)
Not enough pedal reserve (DOT spec.) )
Doss not siop vehicle in straight line (DOT spec )
© Hoses damaged
Drum or rotor oo thin (Mfgr. Specs)
Lining or pad thickness less than 1/32 inch
Power unit not operating or lesking
Structural or mechanical parts damaged

Steering System
Too much free play at steering whee! (DOT spacs.)
Free play in linkage more than 14 inch
Fanhe S
s alig p DOT 8.
Power unit belts cracked :poﬂy (ng specs)
Power unit fiuid level improper

luaponﬂon System
Ball joint seals damaged
Structural parts bent or damaged
Stabilizer bar disconnected
Spring broken
Shock absarber mounting loose
Rubber bushings damaged or mlulng
Radius rod damaged or missing
Shock absorber leaking or functioning Improperty

Tires
Tread depth less than 2/32 inch
Sizes mismatched
Visible damage

Wheels
Visible cracks, damage or repairs
Mounting bolts loose or missing

Exhaust System
Leakage

XYZ Auto Sales, Inc.

123 Main Street

ADDARSS
Anytown, U.S.A. 01234

Ms. Smith, Used Car Sales Manager

(123) 456-7890

SEE FOR COMPLAINTS

IMPORTANT: The information on this form Is part of any contract to buy this vehicle. Removal of this label befors

consumer purchase (except for purpose of test-driving) is a violation of federal law (16 C.F.R. 455).
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"¢ BUYERS GUIDE

IMPORTANT: Spoken promises are difficult to enforce. Ask the desler to put all promises In writing. Keep this form

VEHICLE WAKE " MooEL VEAR VIN NUMBER

DEALEFR STOCK NUMBER (Optionai)

WARRANTIES FOR THIS VEHICLE:

YOU WILL PAY ALL COSTS FOR ANY REPAIRS. The dealer assumes no responsibility for any repairs regarcisas
of any oral statements about the vehicle.

~

" WARRANTY

O FuLL x LIMITED WARRANTY. The dealer will pay /20 % of the labor and _/22 % of the parts for
the covered systems that fai during the warranty period. Ask the dealer for a copy of the war-
ranty document for a full explanation of warranty coverage, exclusions, and the dealer’s repealr
obligations. Under state law, “Implied warranties" may give you even more rights. .

SYSTEMS COVERED: DURATION:
Engine )
Frame § Body )
Transmission )
Drive Shaft )] - )
Differential ) 12,000 miles or 17 Tonths arter
tlectrical System {except battery) ) e, c .

MANUFACTORER'S WARTENTY STILL APPLIFS. The ﬁmfacﬁxr'ﬁ"s"‘omg an T
Consult ac )

has not expired on Fhis vehcTe; man anty

bookIet Ior details as 5 warrantcy coveramim e,

0 SERVICE CONTRACT. A service contract Is available at an extra charge on this vehicle. Ask for detalis as to
coverage, deductible, price, and sxclusions. If you buy a service contract within 90 days of the time of sale, state
law “Iimplied warrantles” may give you edditional rights.

PRE PURCHASE INSPECTION: ASK THE DEALER IF YOU MAY HAVE THIS VEHICLE INSPECTED BY YOUR
MECHANIC EITHER ON OR OFF THE LOT. '

SEE THE BACK OF THIS FORM for Important additional Information, including & fist of somse major defects that

-, Mmay occur in used -motor vehieias.
) ,
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Below Is a list of some major defects that may occur in used motor vshicles.

Frame & Body
Frame-cracks, eomcﬂvo welkis, or rusted lhvough
Dogtracks—baent or twisted frame

Engine
C. low—ge, exclud.,y nurmal spepage
Cracked block or head
Belts missing or inoperable
Knocks or misses related 10 camshaft lifters and
push rods
Abnormal sxhaust discharge

Tranamission & Drive Shaft

improper fuid level or leakage, excluding normal
seepage

Cracked or damaged case which Is visible

Abnormal noise or vibration caused by faulty
transmission or drive shaft

improper shifting or functioning In any gear

Manual clutch slips or chatters

Differential
Improper Huid level or leakage excluding normal
seepage
Cracked or damaged housing which is visible
Abnormal noise or vibration caused by faulty
differential

Cooling System
Leakage including radiator
Improperty functioning water pump

Electrical System
Battery leakage
Improperly functioning alternator, generator,
battery, or starter

Fusl System
Visible leakage

Inopsrable Accessories
Gauges or warning devices
Air conditioner
Heater & Defroster

Brake System

- Fallure warning light broken

Pedal not firm under pressure (DOT spec.)

Not enough peda! reserve (DOT spec.)

Does not stop vehicle In straight line (DOT spec.)
Hoses damaged

Drum or rotor too thin (Mfgr. Specs)

Lining or pad thickness less than 1/32 inch
Power unit not operating or leaking

Structural or mechanical parts damaged -

Steering System
Too much fres play at stesring whee! (DOT specs.)
Free play in linkage more than 1/4 inch
Steering gear binds or jams
Front wheeis aligned improperly (DOT specs.)
Power unit belts cracked or slipping
Powar unit fiuid level improper

Suspension System
Bali joint seals damaged
Structural parts bent or damaged
Stabilizer bar disconnected
Spring broken
Shock absorber mounting loose
Rubber bushings damaged or missing
Radius rod damaged or missing
Shock absorber leaking or tunctioning improperty

Tires
Tread depth less thln 2/32 inch
Sizes mismatched
Visible damagse

Whesls
Visible cracks, damage or repairs
Founting bolts loose or missing

Exhsust System
Leakage

XYZ Auto Sales, Inc.

123 Main Street

ADDRESS

Anytown, U.S.A. 01234

Ms. Smith, Used Car Sales Manager

(123) 456-7890

SEE FOR COMPLAINTS

"IMPORTANT: The Information on this form Is part of any contract to buy this vehicle. Removal of this label before

consumer purchase (except for purpose of test-driving) is a violation of federatl law (16 C.F.R. 455).
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. APPENDIX D BUYERS GUE

IMPORTANT: Spoken promises are difficult to enforce. Ask the deaiar o put all promises In writing. Keep this form.

VEHICLE MAKE HODEL ’ YEAR VIt NUMBER

DEALER $TOCK NUMBER (Optional)

WARRANTIES FOR THIS VEHICLE:

YOU WILL PAY ALL.CESTSTO R ANY REPAIRS. The dealer assumes no responsibliity for ~
0 prOTdl statements about the vehicle.

TN AN

i

D FULL X LIMITED WARRANTY. The dealer will pay 75 5 of the labor and 7.5 % of the parts for
the covered systems that fall during the warranty period. Ask the dealer for a copy of the war
ranty document for a full explanation of warranty coverage, exclusions, and the dealer's repalr
obligations. Under state law, “implied warranties” may give you even more rights.

SYSTEMS COVERED: DURATION:

Engine . 30 days or 3,000 miles, whichever
comes first

0] SERVICE CONTRACT. A service contract Is available at an extra charge on this vehicle. Ask for detalls s ta
coverage, deductible, price, and exclusions. i you buy a service contract within 90 days of the time of sale, ziate
law “Iimplied warranties” may give you additionai rights. :

PRE PURCHASE INSPECTION: ASK THE DEALER IF YOU MAY HAVE THIS VEHICLE INSPECTED BY YOUR
- MECHANIC EITHER ON OR OFF THE LOT. :

TN,

| SEE THE BACK OF THIS FORM for important additlonat informatlon, Including a list of some major defecte that
\\// fay occur In used motor vehicles.
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Below Is a list of some major defscts that may occur In used motor vehiclea. -

\ .
\ | Frame & Body Brelm System
o’ Frame-cracks, eompcie weids, 7 rustad Shesugh Falisry waening light broken
Dogiraciy—-bent or twisied kems Padal not firm uader passsure {OOT spec)
Engine . Not enough psdal reserve (DOT spec.)
Ol leakage, exviuding normal seepage Homu 083 m‘d““h Rraight fine (DOT spec)
Cracked block or haad . Dru thin (M1
Belts migsing of Inoperable m of rolor too thin (Migr. Specs)
Knocks or misses related 1o camshatt lifters and Lining or ped thickness lsss than 1732 inch
push rods ] Powser unit not operaling or leeking
Abnormal exhaust discharge ‘ ' Stryctural o mechanical parts damaged
Tansmiselon & Drive Shaft : lhT:oﬂnn S'm:.mm —
impropar fiuld level or lsakags, axcluding normal ) muc wheel (DOT space)
sepage " Frae play in linkage more than 14 inch
Crachad or demaged case which i3 visible Stwering gear binds or jams
Abnormal noise or vibration caused by faulty Front aligned improperly (DOT spacs.)
transmission or drive shaft : _ Power unit belts cracked or elipping
impropar shilting of functioning in any geer -  Powsr unit fluld ievel impropor '
Manual cluich slips or chatters ' : : $
Differantial . : Bl joint seals damaged
improper fluid leve! or leakage exciuding normal Structural parts bent or damaged
860pA0S Stabitizer bar disconnected
Crackad or damaged housing which e visible Spring broksn
Annormal nolse or vibration caused by taulty Bhock absorber mounting loose
difisrontlal . Rubbar
damaged or missing
Cooling System Radius rod damaged or missing
Leakags including redixtor ) 8hock ebesrber tewking or functioning Improperty
improperly funclioning water pump Tires
Electrical System © . Tread depih less than 2/32 inch
Batlory meo ' Bims mipmeichad .
improperly functioning alternator, gansrator, ) o - ‘Visible damoge
battery, or slarner
/7 Fuel Systsm Visible cracks, damage or repa;
% repass
N /j Visible ieakage ’ Mounting bolis locse or missing
== inoperable Accésscries. . :
Gauges or warning devices Exhacst Bystem
Alr conditiorer : : Lazkage

Hester & Defroster

XYZ Ruto Sales, Inc.

oaALEA
123 Main Street
Anytown, U.S.A. 01234
____Ms. Smith, Used Car Sales Manager- . (123) 456~7890
BEZ FOR COMPLAINTS

. IMPORTANT: The informatien on this form Is pant of any contract to buy this vehicle. Removal of this lebsl before
‘} consumer purchase (axcept for purpese of test-driving) Is a vielation of faderal Iaw {18 C.F.R. 455)..

e’ [FR Doc. 88-11011 Filed 5-16-88; 8:45 am]
BHLING CODE 8750-01-C
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~ " BUYERS GUIDE

IMPORTANT: Spoken promises are difficult to anforce. Ask the dealer to put &ll promises in writing. Keep this form.

VEHICLE MAXE MO0EL ‘YEAR Vi MUMBER

DEALEA STOCK NUMBER (Optional)

WARRANTIES FOR THIS VEHICLE:

AS IS - NO WARRANTY

YOU WILL PAY ALL COSTS FOR ANY REPAIRS. The dealer éssumes no responsibility for any repeirs regardiess

of any oral statements about the vehicle.
N—x" ., -
\\

0 FuLL K LIMITED WARRANTY. The dealsr wiil pay laﬁﬁ of the labor and _ZQL-{; of the parts for
the covered systems that fail during the werranty period. Ask the dealer for a co of the war-

ranty document for & ful explanation of warranty coverage, exclusions, and the dealer's repalr

obligations. Under state law, “implied warrantles” may give you sven more rights. :

SYSTEMS COVERED: DURATION:
* - A one-time $50.00 deductible will apply on repairs.

Engine )

Transmission & Drive Shaft ) .
blectrical System ) 6 months or 6,000 miles,
Brake System whichever cames first
Steering System A ~ - . L
Cooling System . _ )

0 SERVICE CONTRACT. A service contract is avallable at an extra charge on this vehicle. Ask for deialig as to
coverage, deductible, price, and exclusions. If you buy a service contract within 90 days of the time of gale, state
~ law “implied warranties” may glve you additiona! rights. , R

PRE PURCHASE INSPECTION: ASK THE DEALER IF YOU MAY HAVE THIS VEHIC&;E INSPECTED BY YOUR
MECHANIC EITHER ON OR OFF THE LOT. ,

i SEE THE BACK OF THIS FORM for Important additionel Information, including & list of some major defects that
4 may occur in used motor vehicles. -



